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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
  MARCH 31, 2020  
 

Income Statements 
 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
 

  NOTES  GROUP   COMPANY   
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Revenue 
Operating income 18(a) 23,321 27,867 23,321 27,867 
Fair value gain on investment property 5 22,747 -       22,747       -       
Other income 18(b) 49,455   27,220 49,455   27,220 

  95,523   55,087 95,523   55,087 

Administration expenses  (19,623) (  24,359) (19,623) (  24,359) 
Other operating expenses  (63,573) (  46,031) (59,318) (  44,737) 
Impairment loss  (  5,097) (    5,208) (  5,097) (    5,208) 
Fair value loss on investment properties 5,14      -      (  31,408)      -      (  31,408) 

 19 (88,293) (107,006) (84,038) (105,712) 

Profit/(loss) from operations  7,230 (  51,919) 11,485 (  50,625) 

Finance costs  (     373) (         98) (     340) (         98) 

Profit/(loss) from operations before other 
   income  6,857 (  52,017) 11,145 (  50,723) 

(Loss)/gain on liquidation of subsidiaries  24 (  1,896) 58,786 (  5,604) 43,724 

Share of profit from interest in associate 7 46,561     9,914      -            -        

Profit/(loss) from operations before taxation  51,522 16,683 5,541 (    6,999) 

Taxation charge 20 (10,932) (  11,137) (  3,533) (    8,563) 

Profit/(loss) for the year   40,590     5,546   2,008 (  15,562) 

Dealt with in the financial statements of: 
 Parent company   2,008 (  15,562)    
 Subsidiaries   (     580) 13,768 
 Associate 7 39,162     7,340 

   40,590     5,546 

Earnings per stock unit: 
 Based on stock units in issue 21   3.35¢     0.46¢ 

 Excluding stock units in GCLEIT 21   3.45¢     0.47¢ 
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
  MARCH 31, 2020  
 

Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
 

 NOTES  GROUP   COMPANY  
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Profit/(loss) for the year 40,590   5,546   2,008 (15,562) 

Other comprehensive income (OCI): 
Item that will never be reclassified to profit or loss   

Net losses on investments in equity securities designated 
   at fair value through OCI (FVOCI)  (11,481) (  2,062) (11,481) (  2,062) 

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 
Fair value adjustments on debt securities at fair value 
   through OCI (FVOCI)  10,659 (16,574) 10,659 (16,574) 

Other comprehensive loss for the year,  
net of taxation (     822) (18,636) (     822) (18,636) 

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year 39,768 (13,090)   1,186 (34,198) 

Dealt with in the financial statements of: 
 The company   1,186 (34,198)   
 Subsidiaries  (     580) 13,768   
 Associate  7 39,162   7,340   

   39,768 (13,090)   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
  MARCH 31, 2020  
  
 

Group Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
 

   
 Share Capital Fair value Reserve for Retained Total 
 capital reserves reserves own shares profits equity 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  
 

Balances as at March 31, 2018 605,622 1,033,139 23,276 (149,157) 191,173 1,704,053 

Adjustment on the initial application of IFRS 9       -              -           1,725       -       (    1,758) (            33) 

Adjusted balances at April 1, 2018 605,622 1,033,139 25,001 (149,157) 189,415 1,704,020 

Total comprehensive income for the year        
 Profit for the year       -              -             -             -           5,546        5,546  

Other comprehensive loss for the year: 
 Fair value adjustments on debt securities at FVOCI       -              -         (16,574)       -             -       (     16,574)  
 Net losses on investments in equity securities designated  
    at fair value through OCI       -              -         (  2,062)       -             -       (       2,062)  

 Total other comprehensive loss for the year, net of taxation       -              -         (18,636)       -             -       (     18,636)  

Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of taxation       -              -         (18,636)       -           5,546 (     13,090)  

Transfer on liquidation of wholly owned subsidiaries  (   128,247) (  1,540)       -       48,876 (     80,911) 
Other transfers [note 16(iii)]       -       (   217,394)     -             -       217,394        -         
Transfer of own shares sold in previous years       -       (     29,548)     -       114,284 (  84,736)        -         

          -       (   375,189) (  1,540) 114,284 181,534 (     80,911)  
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity:  
 Total distributions to owners (note 22)       -       (   117,706)     -             -             -       (   117,706)  

Balances as at March 31, 2019 605,622    540,244   4,825 (  34,873) 376,495 1,492,313 

Total comprehensive income for the year        
 Profit for the year       -              -             -             -         40,590     40,590  

Other comprehensive loss for the year: 
 Fair value adjustments on debt securities at FVOCI       -              -         10,659       -             -       10,659 
 Net losses on investments in equity securities designated  
 at fair value through OCI       -              -         (11,481)       -             -       (     11,481) 

 Total other comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year, net of taxation       -              -         (     822)       -             -       (          822) 

Total comprehensive profit for the year, net of taxation       -              -         (     822)       -         40,590      39,768 

Transfer on liquidation of wholly owned subsidiaries       -       (          157)       -             -       157        -         
Transfers [note 16(iii)]       -       (     18,002)     -             -         18,002        -         

          -       (     18,159)     -             -         18,159        -         

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity: 
 Total distributions to owners (note 22)       -       (     94,142)     -             -             -       (     94,142)  

Balances as at March 31, 2020 605,622    427,943   4,003 (  34,873) 435,244 1,437,939

12 
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
_________MARCH 31, 2020______ 

 

Company Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
 

  
 Share Capital Fair value Retained Total 
 capital reserves reserves profits equity 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  
  

Balances at March 31, 2018 605,622 699,748 21,736   76,595 1,403,701 

 Adjustment on the initial application of IFRS 9        -             -         1,725 (    3,047) (       1,322) 

 Adjusted balances at April 1, 2018 605,622 699,748 23,461   73,548 1,402,379 

Total comprehensive income for the year 
 Loss for the year       -             -            -      (  15,562) (     15,562) 

Other comprehensive loss: 
 Fair value adjustments on debt securities at FVOCI       -             -       (16,574)       -       (     16,574) 
 Net losses on investments in equity securities designated  
    at fair value through OCI       -             -       (  2,062)       -       (       2,062) 

      Total other comprehensive loss for the year, net of taxation       -             -       (18,636)       -       (     18,636) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of taxation       -             -       (18,636) (  15,562) (     34,198) 

 Other transfers [note 16(iv)]       -       (  38,380)      -        38,380         -        

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 
 Total distributions to owners (note 22)       -       (121,124)      -            -       (   121,124) 

Balances at March 31, 2019 605,622 540,244   4,825   96,366 1,247,057 

Total comprehensive income for the year 
 Profit for the year       -             -           -        2,008       2,008 

Other comprehensive loss: 
 Fair value adjustments on debt securities at FVOCI -             -       10,659       -       10,659 
 Net losses on investments in equity securities designated 
     at fair value through OCI       -             -       (11,481)       -       (     11,481) 

      Total other comprehensive loss for the year, net of taxation       -             -       (     822)       -       (          822) 

Total comprehensive profit for the year, net of taxation       -             -       (     822)     2,008        1,186 

 Transfers [note 16(iv)]        -        (  15,244)      -        15,244        -        

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 
 Total distributions to owners (note 22)       -       (  96,900)      -            -       (     96,900) 

Balances at March 31, 2020 605,622 428,100   4,003 113,618 1,151,343 
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

  MARCH 31, 2020  
 

Statements of Cash Flows 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

  NOTES  Group   Company  
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Cash flows from operating activities 
 Profit/(loss) for the year 40,590 5,546 2,008 (  15,562) 
 Adjustments to reconcile profit/(loss) to net cash  
  provided/(used)by operating activities: 
 Depreciation 4 3,961 4,793 3,961 4,793 
 Income tax 20(a) 24,182 8,974 16,783 8,974 
 Deferred taxation 20(a) (  13,250) (       411) (  13,250) (       411) 
 Interest income 18(a) (  18,908) (  20,525) (  18,908) (  20,525) 
 Interest expense  373 98 340 98 
 Decrease in fair value of asset held-for-sale  -       16,519 -      16,519 
 Increase in fair value of investment properties  (  22,747) 14,889 (  22,747) 14,889 
 Impairment loss 19 5,097 5,208 5,097 5,208 
 Share of profit of associate, net of tax 7 (  39,162) (    7,340) -      -       
 Gain on disposal of assets held for sale  (    5,999) 2,674 (    5,999) 2,674 
 Loss/(gain) on sale of bond  2,852 -          2,852 -       
 Gain on sale of pension assets  (  19,466) -       (  19,466) -       
 Loss on liquidation of subsidiaries       1,896 (  58,786) 5,604 (  43,724) 
 Increase in the fair value of units  (       369) (       102) (       369) (       102) 

   (  40,950) (  28,463) (  44,094) (  27,169) 

 Tax paid  (  13,140) (  32,101) (    5,741) (  32,101) 
 Interest paid  (       373) (         98) (       340) (         98) 
 Trade and other receivables  (    2,839) (    5,563) (    7,082) 5,062 
 Securities purchased under agreements for resale  (  76,052) (184,597) (  76,052) (184,597) 
 Accounts payable  17,542 14,047 17,561 (  38,506) 
 Pension fund receivable        -       (    7,470)       -       (    7,470) 

 Net cash used in operating activities (115,812) (244,245) (115,748) (284,879) 

Cash flows from investing activities  
 Interest received  17,787 24,296 17,787 24,296 
 Additions to property, plant and equipment  (         39) -       (         39) -       
 Proceeds from sale of assets held for sale  101,812 201,639 101,812 201,639 
 Proceeds from sale of bonds  68,233 -       68,233 -       
 Proceeds from settlement of pension units  59,173 -       59,173 -       
 Distribution from liquidated subsidiaries        -       -             -       45,137 
 Investments, net  (  19,766) 154,195 (  19,765) 155,747 
 Long-term receivable      3,083     4,439     3,083     4,439 

 Net cash provided by investing activities  230,283 384,569 230,284 431,258 

Cash flows from financing activity  
 Distributions, being net cash used by financing activity 22 (  94,142) (117,706) (96,900) (121,124) 

 Net cash used by financing activities  (  94,142) (117,706) (96,900) (121,124)  

Net increase  in cash and cash equivalents  20,329 22,618 17,636 25,252 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year    90,247   67,629   86,547   61,295 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  110,576   90,247 104,183   86,547 
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
March 31, 2020  
 
 

 

1. Identification 
 

1834 Investments Limited, formerly The Gleaner Company Limited (“company” or “parent 
company”), is incorporated under the laws of, and is domiciled in Jamaica.  The company 
is listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange and has its registered office at 7 North Street, 
Kingston. 
 

The group’s principal activities are the management of real estate and other investments.   
 

Group refers collectively to the company and its associates, which are as follows:  
 

  Country of % Ownership 
 Principal activity incorporation  by Group  
 

Associate: 
Jamaica Joint Venture Investment  
Company Limited (JJVI) Real Estate Investment Jamaica 50% Joint Venture 

 

JJVI has a 100% shareholding in Manhart Properties Limited and City Properties Limited 
both of which own commercial properties (see also note 7). 
 

In November 2019, the company petitioned to strike off its only remaining subsidiary, 
Selectco Publications Limited. Its profit or loss has been included in the consolidated 
statements up to the date of disposal.  In the prior year, four (4) subsidiaries were also 
either legally dissolved or petitioned for striking off the company register. These included 
1834 Investments (Canada) Inc., digjamaica.com Limited, Popular Printers Limited and 
Associated Enterprise Limited (see also note 24). 
 
 

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation 
 

(a) Statement of compliance: 
 

 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with the provisions of the Jamaican 
Companies Act (Act). 

  

 The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS assumes that the 
company will continue for the foreseeable future. This means, in part, that the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the statement of 
financial position assume no intention or necessity to liquidate or curtail the scale of 
operations. This is commonly referred to as the going concern basis. Companies are 
required to assess and disclose material uncertainties related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on their ability to continue as a going concern. In 
addition, disclosure is required when management concludes that there are no 
material uncertainties but reaching that conclusion involved significant judgement. 
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
March 31, 2020  
 
 

 

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 
 
(a) Statement of compliance (continued): 
 
 The Covid-19 outbreak is evolving rapidly, having already seen a number of 

significant developments within a relatively short timeframe. These developments 
have significant business implications for many entities, as well as related financial 
statement effects. Because the spread of Covid-19 has triggered a series of events 
rather than a one-off event, the assessment of the severity of the effects on an entity 
can vary significantly depending on the sector and markets that an entity operates in, 
as well as the specific conditions at the time when the assessment is made. As 
indicated in note 23(a)(ii), management has considered the impact of the Covid-19 
outbreak on its financial assets. These estimates involve increased judgment as a 
result of the economic impacts of Covid-19 on the group’s financial assets. Inter alia, 
management considered qualitative factors that create Covid-19 related changes to 
significant increase in credit risk (SICR) and increased uncertainty about potential 
future economic scenarios and their impact on credit losses. Management, supported 
by its external valuator, also considered the impact of Covid-19 related economic 
scenarios on its investment properties and concluded that the going concern basis 
continues to be appropriate in the preparation of the financial statements. 

 
 Details of the group’s accounting policies, including changes during the year are 

included in notes 27 and 28. 
 

The application of IFRS 16, Leases had no material impact on the financial 
statements. 

 
(b) Basis of measurement: 
 

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the 
following: 

 
(i) Investment properties that are carried at fair value (note 5). 

(ii) Assets held for sale which are measured at the lower of their carrying amount 
and fair value less cost to sell (note 14). 

(iii) Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
measured at fair value (2019: FVOCI).  

(iv) Certain debt instruments mandatorily classified at fair value through profit or 
loss. 

(v) Certain equity securities designated as FVOCI are measured at fair value. 
 

 



 
 

17 
 

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)  
March 31, 2020  
 
 

 

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 
 
(c) Functional and presentation currency: 
 
 The financial statements are presented in Jamaica dollars, which is the functional 

currency of the group.  Financial information presented is shown in thousands of 
Jamaica dollars, unless otherwise stated.  

 
(d) Use of estimates and judgements: 

 
The preparation of the financial statements to conform to IFRS requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of, and 
disclosures relating to, assets, liabilities, contingent assets and contingent liabilities at 
the reporting date and the income and expenses for the year then ended. Actual 
amounts could differ from those estimates. 

 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate 
is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

 
Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have significant 
effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material 
adjustments in the next financial year are discussed below: 
 
(i) Critical accounting judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies  

 
 For the purpose of these financial statements, prepared in accordance with 

IFRS, judgement refers to the informed identification and analysis of 
reasonable alternatives, considering all relevant facts and circumstances, and 
the well-reasoned, objective and unbiased choice of the alternative that is most 
consistent with the principles set out in IFRS.   

 
(1) Classification of financial assets: 

 
The assessment of the business model within which the assets are held 
and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are 
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount 
outstanding requires management to make certain judgements on its 
business operations.  

 
(2) Impairment of financial assets: 

 
Establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
determining the methodology for incorporating forward-looking 
information into the measurement of expected credit loss (ECL) and 
selection and approval of models used to measure ECL requires 
significant judgement. 
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)  
March 31, 2020  
 
 

 

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued): 
 

(ii) Key assumptions and other sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
(1) Impairment of financial assets: 
 

A number of significant judgements are required in applying the 
accounting requirements for measuring expected credit loss (ECL), such 
as: 

• Determining criteria for significant increases in credit risk; 

• Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement 
of ECL; 

• Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking 
scenarios for each type of product/market and the associated ECL; 
and 

• Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of 
measuring ECL. 

 
Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the 
group in the above areas is set out in note 23. 

 
(2) Determination of fair values: 
 

The group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy 
which reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the 
measurements: 

 

 Level 1 – Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in an 
active market for an identical asset or liability. 

 Level 2 – Inputs that are other quoted prices included within level 1 
that are observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued 
using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; 
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are 
considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all 
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market 
data. 

 Level 3 – Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all 
instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based 
on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant 
effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes 
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar 
instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or 
assumptions are required to reflect differences between the 
instruments. 
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)  
March 31, 2020  
 
 

 

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued): 
 

(ii) Key assumptions and other sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 

(2) Determination of fair values (continued): 
 

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow 
models, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable 
prices exist and other valuation models.  
 

Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to arrive at 
estimates of fair values. Consequently, the estimates arrived at may be 
significantly different from the actual price of the instrument in an arm’s 
length transaction. 
 

The group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy 
at the end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred. 

 

(3) Investment properties: 
 

Investment properties reflect fair value amounts, based on market 
information, including valuations done by independent valuators in the 
current year and by the directors in the prior year. On the instructions of 
management, the valuators have used valuation techniques such as the 
direct sales comparison approach, income approach and cost approach to 
determine fair value as detailed in note 5.  

 
(4) Income taxes: 
 

In the ordinary course of the group’s business, it undertakes transactions, 
and is subject to events, the tax effects of which are uncertain.  In the face 
of such uncertainty, the group makes estimates and judgements in 
determining the provision for income taxes.   
 
The final tax outcome attributable to matters subject to such estimates and 
judgements may be materially different from that which is initially 
recognised.  Any such difference will impact the current and deferred 
income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

 
 
3. Role of auditors 
 

The external auditors have been appointed by the stockholders pursuant to the Articles of 
Incorporation and the Act to conduct an independent and objective audit of the financial 
statements of the group and the company and in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing, and report thereon to the stockholders. The auditors’ report outlines the scope of 
their audit and their opinion. 
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)  
March 31, 2020  
 
 

 

4. Property, plant and equipment 
 
  Group and Company  
   Machinery Fixtures 

  and and 
  equipment fittings Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Cost  
Balances as at March 31, 2018 and 2019 59,271      -      59,271 
Additions        -             39        39 

 Balances as at March 31, 2020   59,271        39 59,310 

Depreciation  
 Balances at March 31, 2018  48,417      -      48,417 
 Charge for the year    4,793      -        4,793 

 Balances at March 31, 2019  53,210      -      53,210 
 Charge for the year    3,958          3   3,961 

 Balances at March 31, 2020  57,168          3 57,171 

 Carrying amounts 
 March 31, 2020    2,103        36   2,139 

 March 31, 2019    6,061      -        6,061 
 
 
5. Investment properties 
     Group and Company 
     2020 2019 
      $’000 $’000 

Balance at beginning of the year    414,350 549,239 
Disposals during the year     -       (120,000) 
Increase/(decrease) in fair value      22,747 (  14,889) 

 Balance at end of the year   437,097 414,350 
 

During the year, investment properties generated income and incurred expenses as follows: 
 

     Group and Company 
     2020 2019 
      $’000 $’000 
 

Income earned from investment properties    4,413 7,342 
Expenses incurred on investment properties        968    939 

 
Investment properties with a value of $437,000,000 (2019: $414,350,000) are based on fair 
values as at March 31, 2020 as determined by professional independent valuators, Allison, 
Pitter & Company, who have an appropriate recognised professional qualification and 
recent experience in vocation and categories of properties being valued. 
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)  
March 31, 2020  
 
 

 

5. Investment properties (continued) 
 
As at March 31, 2020, the properties were revalued on a fair value market value basis by 
the Directors with reference to a review opinion provided by Allison, Pitter & Company. 

 
The fair value of land and buildings is categorised as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. The 
following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring fair value as well as the 
significant unobservable inputs used.  
 
Valuation techniques Significant unobservable 

inputs 
Inter-relationship between 
key unobservable inputs 
and fair value measurement 

Market based approach:  The 
approach is based on the principle 
of substitution whereby the 
purchaser with perfect knowledge 
of the property market pays no 
more for the subject property than 
the cost of acquiring an existing 
comparable assuming no cost delay 
in making the substitution. 

The approach requires comparison 
of the subject property with others 
of similar design and utility, inter 
alia, which were sold in the recent 
past. 

However, as no two properties are 
exactly alike, adjustment is made 
for the difference between the 
property subject to valuation and 
comparable properties. 

 Details of the sales of 
comparable properties. 

 
 Conditions influencing the 

sale of comparable 
properties. 

 
 Comparability adjustment. 
 
 The potential rental value 

of the property in the 
current investment climate. 

The estimated fair value 
would increase/(decrease) if: 
 
 Sale value of comparable 

properties were 
higher/(lower). 

 
 Comparability adjustment 

were higher/(lower). 
 

 
 
6. Long-term receivables 

 

   Group and Company 
    2020 2019 
     $’000 $’000 
 
  Loan receivable [US$179,583 (2019: US$214,583)]  24,057 26,827 
 Less: Current portion [see other receivables (note 13)] (  4,688) (  4,375) 
 Less: Allowance for impairment losses  (     711)     -       

      18,658 22,452 

 
Loan receivable represents the balance on a loan due to the company. This loan, which 
bears interest of 4% per annum, is secured by real estate.  Under the repayment 
arrangement, the final payment is due in August 2021. 
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)  
March 31, 2020  
 
 

 

7. Interest in associate 
 

The Group has a 50% interest in a real estate investment company, Jamaica Joint Venture 
Investment Company Limited (JJVI). The 50% share of profit which is recognised in the 
current period is based on the associate’s latest available audited financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2017, updated for significant transactions to March 31, 2020.  
 

  Group   Company  
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
Shares at cost 53,235 53,235 53,235 53,235 
Group’s share of reserves 291,388 252,226       -           -     

   344,623 305,461 53,235 53,235 
 
Associate company results recorded in the year ended March 31, 2020, related to the 
twenty-seven month period commencing January 1, 2018, to March 31, 2020 (2019: 
Twelve month period ended December 31, 2017).  This included adjustments attributable to 
the group’s share of net assets consequent on ownership adjustments in prior years. 
 
The following table summarises the financial information of the associate (JJVI), as 
included in its own financial statements, after elimination of differences in accounting 
policies and intercompany transactions. 

   Group  
   2020 2019 

  $’000 $’000 

 Percentage ownership interest   50% 50% 

 Non-current assets: 
  Property, plant and equipment   1,771 2,668 
  Investment properties   266,800 545,500 
  Goodwill on consolidation   711 711 
  Due from related parties   3,009 3,009 
  Deferred tax asset   548 565 
  Loan receivable       3,569     3,323 

 Total non-current assets   276,408 555,776 

 Current assets: 
  Trade and other receivables   113,590 56,091 
  Taxation recoverable   617 3,372 
  Assets held for sale   235,000 -      
  Cash and cash equivalents     81,607   90,165 

 Total current assets   430,814 149,628 

  Non-current liabilities: 
  Long term loans   (    1,746) (    1,746) 

 Total non-current liabilities   (    1,746) (    1,746) 

  Current liabilities: 
  Due to ultimate holding company   (         23) (         43) 
  Trade and other payables   (  12,041) (  15,417) 
  Taxation payable   (    4,165) (       492) 

 Total current liabilities   (  16,229) (  15,952) 

 Net assets   689,247 687,706 

 Group share of net assets (50%)   344,623 343,853 
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7. Interest in associate (continued) 
 

   Group  
   27 months 12 months 

  $’000 $’000 

Revenue from operations, being total revenue  204,173 92,304 
Fair value adjustment  33,084 -      
Depreciation and amortisation   (       897) (       758) 
Administrative expense  (140,387) (  69,827) 
Interest expense  (    2,851) (    1,892) 

Profit before taxation    93,122   19,827 

Group share of profit before taxation (50%)    46,561     9,914 
 
Income tax charge  (  14,797) (    5,148) 
Group share of income tax charge (50%) (see note 20)  (    7,399) (    2,574) 

Net profit    39,162     7,340 

Group’s share of reserves:  
 Balance as at April 1  252,226 244,886 
 Group’s share of current year profit    39,162     7,340 

 Balance at March 31  291,388 252,226 

 
 
8. Investments 
 
   Group and Company  
    2020 2019 
    $’000 $’000 
 

FVOCI: 
     Quoted equities  53,793 62,429 

Unquoted equities   6,050 6,053 
Corporate bonds   41,972 133,959 
10.179% Barclays Bank PLC investment note    43,762   37,506  

   145,577 239,947 

Amortised cost: 
Certificates of deposit   52,735 42,188 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss: 
  Units in unit trust      80,842     8,543  

     279,154 290,678 
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9. Pension fund receivable 
 

The amount represents surplus due to the company arising from the discontinuation of the defined-
benefit pension fund on July 15, 2010.  The total outstanding was received during the year. 
 

 Group and Company 
 2020 2019 
 $’000 $’000 

 Balance at beginning of the year 81,792 74,322 
 Net received during the year (81,792) -      
 Income earned during the year      -        7,470 

 Balance at end of year      -      81,792 
 
  
10. Deferred taxation 
 

Deferred taxation is attributable to the following: 
 

(a) Group and Company: 
      2020 2019 
      $’000 $’000 

 
 Investments    602 1,605  
 Unrealised foreign exchange gain   (3,417) 3,620 
 Property, plant and equipment   (   114) (  1,092) 
 Pension fund receivables      -     (20,448) 
 Other receivables   (1,316) (  1,180) 

 Net liability   (4,245) (17,495) 

 
 (i) Movement in net temporary differences during the year are as follows: 

 
   Group and Company  

   2020  
      
       
  Balance at Recognised  Balance at 
  April 1, 2019  in profit or loss March 31, 2020 
    [note 20(a)(ii)]   
 $’000  $’000 $’000 

  Investments  1,605  (  1,003) 602 
  Unrealised foreign exchange gain 3,620  (  7,037) (3,417) 
  Property, plant and equipment (  1,092)  978 (   114) 
  Pension fund receivable (20,448)  20,448      -      
  Other receivables (  1,180)  (     136) (1,316)  

  (17,495)  13,250 (4,245) 
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10. Deferred taxation (continued) 
 

Deferred taxation is attributable to the following (continued): 
 

(a) Group and company (continued): 
 

 (i) Movement in net temporary differences during the year are as follows (continued): 
 

   Group and Company  

   2019  
     Recognised in 
     other  
  Balance at Recognised comprehensive Balance at 
  April 1, 2018 in profit or loss  income  March 31, 2019 
   [note 20(a)(ii)]     
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  Investments 3,600 (  1,995) -       1,605 
  Unrealised foreign exchange gain 1,357 2,263 -       3,620 
  Inventories (         4) -     4 -      
  Property, plant and equipment (  1,574) 1,100 (       618) (  1,092) 
  Pension fund receivable (18,580) (  1,868)       -       (20,448) 
  Other receivables (  2,091)      911       -       (  1,180) 

  (17,292)      411 (       614) (17,495)  
 
 

11. Cash and cash equivalents 
   Group   Company  
   2020 2019 2020 2019 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

 Bank and cash balances  110,576 90,247 104,183 86,547 
 
12. Securities purchased under resale agreements 
 

The group and the company invest in securities purchased under resale agreements.  At the 
reporting date the securities had a carrying amount of $269,281,084 (2019: $193,229,000), net of 
impairment allowance of $1,240,000 (2019: $647,000). 

 
At the reporting date, the fair value of the underlying securities held as collateral for the resale 
agreements was $270,520,639 (2019: $193,875,000) for the group and the company. 

 
 
13. Other receivables 
   Group   Company  
   2020 2019 2020 2019 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

  Due from related parties  -          -      14,308 15,637 
  Other receivables [see (a) below]  22,510 19,006 21,302 18,977 
  Current portion of long term receivable 
     (see note 6)  4,688 4,375 4,688 4,375 
  Less: Allowance for impairment losses  (  2,548)      -      (  2,548) (  1,289) 

    24,650 23,381 37,750 37,700 
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13. Other receivables (continued) 
 

(a) Other receivables is comprised as follows: 
   Group   Company  
   2020 2019 2020 2019 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 

  General Consumption Tax (GCT) recoverable 8,409 8,398 8,409 8,398 
  Interest receivable   5,714 4,593 5,714 4,593 
  Other receivables and prepayments    8,387   6,015   7,179   5,986 

   22,510 19,006 21,302 18,977 

 
 
14. Assets held for sale 
   Group   Company  
   2020 2019 2020 2019 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
  Balance at beginning of the year  95,813 196,645 95,813 196,645 
  Disposals during the year  (95,813) (  84,313) (95,813) (  84,313) 
  Decrease in fair value       -      (  16,519)      -      (  16,519) 

  Balance at end of the year      -        95,813      -        95,813 
 

Management sold some of its investment properties during the prior and current year.  
Accordingly, the properties were presented as assets held for sale in the prior year.  The 
assets were sold during the current year.   
 
The valuation techniques used in measuring the fair value of the asset, as well as the 
significant unobservable inputs used are described in note 5.  This is classified as level 3 
in the fair value hierarchy.  

 
 
15. Share capital 

 2020 2019 
 $’000 $’000 

Share capital issued and fully paid: 
 1,211,243,827 stock units of no par value 605,622 605,622 

 
At March 31, 2020, the authorised share capital comprised 1,216,000,000 ordinary stock 
units (2019: 1,216,000,000). All issued stock units are fully paid. The holders of ordinary 
stock units are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to 
one vote per stock unit at meetings of the company.  
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16. Reserves 
   Group   Company  
   2020 2019 2020 2019 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 Capital 
 Realised: 
 Share premium (i) 4,353 4,353 4,353 4,353  
 Gain on sale of loan (ii)     1,334     1,334     1,334     1,334 

       5,687     5,687     5,687     5,687 

 Unrealised: 
 Revaluation of land and buildings (iii) 422,413 534,557 422,413 534,557 
 Loss on the disposal of subsidiaries (       157)       -             -             -        

   422,256 534,557 422,413 534,557 

 Total capital reserves 427,943 540,244 428,100 540,244 
 Reserve for own shares (iv) (  34,873) (  34,873)       -             -       
 Fair value reserve (ii)    4,003 4,825 4,003 4,825 
 Revenue 
 Retained profits 435,244 376,495 113,618   96,366 

   832,317   886,691 545,721 641,435 

 
(i) Share premium is retained in accordance with the provisions of Section 39(7) of the 

Jamaican Companies Act. 
 

(ii) Fair value reserve represents unrealised gains arising on changes in fair value of debt 
and equity investment securities measured at FVOCI.  Realised gains on sale of loans 
were also transferred to realised capital reserves in prior years. 
 

(iii) During the year, $18,002,000 (2019: $217,394,000) for the group and $15,244,000 
(2019: $38,380,000) for the company was transferred from capital reserves to retained 
earnings. This includes appreciation in fair value of property, plant and equipment sold 
in the current and previous years, reserves arising from consolidation of subsidiaries in 
previous years and other gains that were realised in prior years now being transferred to 
retained earnings.   
 

(iv) Reserve for own shares is included in the financial statements by consolidation of The 
Gleaner Company Limited Employee Investment Trust (GCLEIT) as it is regarded as a 
special purpose entity and is required to be consolidated under IFRS 10. The reserve 
comprises the cost of the company’s stock units held by the group through the 
GCLEIT. At March 31, 2020, GCLEIT held 34,873,148 (2019: 34,873,148) of the 
company’s stock units (note 21) at a market value of $32,432,028 (2019: 
$36,616,805.40). 
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17. Accounts payable 
 
   Group   Company  
   2020 2019 2020 2019 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
 Due to related parties  16,042 7,148 16,042 7,148 
 Unclaimed dividends  24,951 25,472 24,951 25,472 
 Other payables  14,921   6,455 16,836   7,647 

    55,914 39,075 57,829 40,267 
 
 
18. Revenue  

  

(a) Operating income: 
     Group and Company 
    2020 2019 
    $’000 $’000 
 
 Interest income, calculated using the effective 
    interest method    18,908 20,525 
 Rental income      4,413   7,342 

     23,321 27,867 
  

(b) Other income:  
   Group   Company  
  2020 2019 2020 2019 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
 Fair value gain on units in unit trust 369 102 369 102 
 Gain on disposal of pension units  19,466 -      19,466 -     
 Gain on disposal of assets held for sale 5,999 -      5,999 -     
 Dividends received   1,754 1,815 1,754 1,815 
 Unrealised foreign exchange gain  16,718 17,274 16,718 17,274 
 Other     5,149   8,029   5,149   8,029 

   49,455 27,220 49,455 27,220 
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19. Administration and other operating expenses  
   Group   Company  
  2020 2019 2020 2019 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Directors’ emoluments: 
 Fees  1,281 3,750 1,281 3,750 
 Management remuneration   4,064 5,383 4,064 5,383 
 Auditors’ remuneration  4,500 5,750 4,500 5,750 
 Shared services  3,768 3,768 3,768 3,768 
 Depreciation  3,961 4,793 3,961 4,790 
 Loss on sale of assets held for sale  -     2,675    -     2,675 
 Insurance   2,427 3,287 2,427 3,287 
 Professional, legal, accounting and support fees 25,232 26,095 25,232 26,095 
 Utilities and telephone  1,229 1,216 1,229 1,216 
 Office expenses  271 112 271 41 
 Building maintenance  805 387 805 387 
 Registrar services  3,586 3,357 3,586 3,357 
 Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE) fees  2,569 1,850 2,569 1,850 
 Impairment losses  5,097 5,208 5,097 5,208 
 Loss on disposal of bonds  2,852 -     2,852 -      
 Fair value loss on investment properties  -     31,408    -     31,408 
 Irrecoverable G.C.T.  3,770 -     3,770 -      
 Other expenses and provisions  22,881     7,967 18,626     6,747 

   88,293 107,006 84,038 105,712 
 
 
20. Taxation 

 
(a) Taxation is based on the profit for the year as adjusted for tax purposes and is made up as 

follows: 
   Group   Company  
  2020 2019 2020 2019 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 (i) Current tax expense: 
  Income tax at 25%  19,803 3,020 19,803 3,020 
  Income tax in associate (see note 7) 7,399 2,574 -     -     
  Prior year (over)/under provision (  3,020)   5,954 (  3,020) 5,954 

    24,182 11,548 16,783 8,974 

(ii) Deferred tax credit: 
  Origination and reversal of timing 

  differences [note 10(a)(i)]  (13,250) (     411) (13,250) (   411) 

  Total taxation charge recognised 10,932 11,137   3,533 8,563 
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20. Taxation (continued) 
 
(b) The tax effect of differences between treatment of items for financial statements and taxation 

purposes are as follows: 
 

   Group   Company  
  2020 2019 2020 2019 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  Profit/(loss)/from operations before taxation  51,522 16,683   5,541 (6,999) 

  Income tax at 25%  12,881 4,171 1,385 (1,750) 
 Difference between depreciation and tax  
     capital allowances  658 3,267 774 3,267 
 Disallowed expenses and other capital  
     adjustments, net       413 (  2,255)   4,394 1,092 

  Actual tax charge  13,952 5,183 6,553 2,609 
  Prior year (over)/under provision  (  3,020)   5,954 (  3,020) 5,954 

  Tax charge  10,932 11,137   3,533 8,563 
 

(c) Uncertainty over income tax treatments: 
 

The company received an Income Tax and PAYE assessment from Tax Administration 
Jamaica (TAJ) for the 2010 year of assessment amounting to $62.81 million. This $62.81 
million was broken down to be $40.55 million for corporate income tax (CIT) and $22.26 
million for pay-as-you-earn (PAYE). 
 

On April 29, 2016, an objection was filed by the company with TAJ to the CIT and PAYE 
assessments. The objection decision, dated May 6, 2020, reduced the total assessment to 
$50.89 million.  
 

After evaluating the probabilities of successfully defending its tax treatments, the company 
proposes to challenge the TAJ within the allowed timelines for doing so. Consequent on its 
evaluation, management has made a general provision of $13.77 million in the accounts as at 
March 31, 2020, and the remainder amount of $37.12 million has not been recognized in 
these consolidated financial statements because management believes it is probable that it 
will successfully defend the tax treatments underlying this amount with the tax authorities. 
 

21. Earnings per stock unit 
 

The calculation of earnings per stock unit is arrived at by dividing profit after taxation attributable to 
stockholders of the company of $40,590,000 (2019: $5,546,000) by 1,211,243,827, being the number 
of stock units in issue at March 31, 2020 (2019: 1,211,243,827) as well as by 1,176,370,679 (2019: 
1,176,370,679), being stock units in issue less those held by the GCLEIT [see note 16(iv)]. 
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22. Dividends paid (gross) 
 

An interim capital distribution of 8 cents (2019: ordinary dividends of 10 cents) per stock unit was 
paid on October 4, 2019 (2019: December 19, 2018), to stockholders on record at close of business 
on September 13, 2019 (2019: December 3, 2018). 
 

   Group   Company  
  2020 2019 2020 2019 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Distributions: 
 First interim paid in respect of  
 2020: 8¢ (2019: 10¢) per stock unit - gross 96,900 121,124 96,900 121,124 

  Allocated to GCLEIT (   2,758) (    3,418)      -             -      

   94,142 117,706 96,900 121,124 
 
 
23. Financial risk management  

 

The group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk, 
liquidity risk and market risk. 
 

This note presents information about the group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative disclosures 
are included throughout these financial statements. 

 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the group’s 
risk management framework. The group’s risk management policies are established to identify and 
analyse the risks faced by the group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks 
and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions and the group’s activities.  
 

The Group Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the group’s risk 
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework 
in relation to the risks faced by the group. The Group Audit Committee undertakes both regular and 
ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures. 

 

 (a) Credit risk: 
 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the group’s 
receivables, investments, pension receivable, securities purchased under resale agreements 
and cash and cash equivalents. 

 

(i) Maximum exposure to credit risk 
 

The maximum credit exposure, that is, the total amount of loss the company would 
suffer if every counterparty to the group’s financial assets were to default at once, is 
represented by the carrying amount of financial assets. 
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

 (a) Credit risk (continued) 

 
(ii) Management of credit risk 

 
The group manages the credit risk on items exposed to such risk as follows: 

 
 Cash and cash equivalents:  

 
These are held with reputable regulated financial institutions; collateral is 
not required for such accounts as management regards the institutions as 
strong and financially sound.  

 
 Securities purchased under resale agreements:  

 
Agreements are made only with reputable, regulated counterparties 
management regards as strong and financially sound. 

 
Collateral is held for all resale agreements in amounts that cover the 
principal advanced and interest expected to be earned over the term of 
the agreement. 

 
 Investment securities, loans and other receivables:  

 
The maximum credit exposure, the total amount of loss the Group would 
suffer if every counterparty to the Group’s financial assets were to 
default at once, is represented by the carrying amount of financial assets 
exposed to credit risk. Exposure to credit risk is managed by regular 
analysis of the ability of counterparties to meet repayment obligations. 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic has caused significant market volatility which 
has increased the Group’s credit risk. The downgrading of credit ratings 
and/ or outlooks for investment securities held has resulted in an increase 
in the credit risk of some debt instruments, loan and other receivables. 

 
(iii) Concentration of credit risk 

 
There is no significant concentration of credit risk. 

 
(iv) Collateral 

 
The fair value of collateral held for financial assets exposed to credit risk is set 
out in note 23(d). 
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

 (a) Credit risk (continued): 

 
(v) Credit quality analysis 

 
Investments and long-term receivables 
 
Credit risk is the single largest risk for the group’s business. Credit risk 
management and control is delegated to the group’s Audit Committee. The 
Committee is responsible for oversight of credit risk, including formulating credit 
policies, establishing the authorisation structure for the approval of credit facilities, 
reviewing and assessing credit risk, and limiting concentration of exposure to 
counterparties. 
 
The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes is complex and 
requires the use of models, as the exposure varies with changes in market 
conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit 
risk of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of 
defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default correlations between 
counterparties. The group measures credit risk using Probability of Default (PD), 
Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD). This is similar to the 
approach used for the purposes of measuring Expected Credit Loss (ECL) under 
IFRS 9.  

 
The management of credit risk exposure to the group’s financial assets is as 
follows: 

 
Maximum exposure to credit risk and credit quality analysis 
 
The following table sets out information about the maximum exposure to credit 
risk and the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised cost and 
FVOCI debt instruments.  Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the 
amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts.   

 
 Debt securities and other financial assets: 

  Group and Company  

 2020 2019 
 $'000 $'000 
 

Amortised cost: 
 Non-investment grade 270,521 236,064 
 Loss allowance (    1,240) (       647) 

  269,281 235,417 
Fair value through OCI: 
 Investment grade 101,815 171,465 
 Non-investment grade   43,762   68,482 

  145,577 239,947 

Loss allowance (    1,887) (       642) 
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
 (a) Credit risk (continued): 

 
(v) Credit quality analysis (continued) 

 
Maximum exposure to credit risk and credit quality analysis (continued) 

 

 Long term receivable at amortised cost: 
 
   Group and Company  

   2020   2019  
  Stage 1 Total Stage 1 Total 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 
 Performing  19,369 19,369 22,452 22,452 
 Loss allowance (     711) (     711)      -           -      

 Carrying amount 18,658 18,658 22,452 22,452 
 

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the Group in addressing the 
requirements of IFRS 9 are discussed below: 
 
Credit risk grades 
 
The group uses external credit ratings provided by rating agencies to assess the 
probability of default of individual counterparties. 
 
For debt securities in the Treasury portfolio, external rating agency credit grades 
are used. These published grades are continuously monitored and updated.  The 
PD’s associated with each grade are determined based on realised default rates 
over the prior 12 months, as published by the rating agency.  
 
The group considers a debt investment security to have low credit risk when its 
credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment 
grade’. The group does not apply the low credit risk exemption to any other 
financial instruments.  

 
Determining whether credit risk has been increased significantly 

 
The group uses three criteria for determining whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk:  

 
- quantitative test based on the credit rating of an investment where investments 

that are transitioned from investment grade to non-investment grade; 

- qualitative indicators; and  

- a backstop of 30 days past due. Days past due are determined by counting the 
number of days since the earliest elapsed due date in respect of which full 
payment has not been received. Due dates are determined without considering 
any grace period that might be available to the borrower. 
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

(v) Credit quality analysis (continued) 
 

Determining whether credit risk has been increased significantly (continued) 
 

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk 
relative to initial recognition, then the loss allowance on an instrument returns to 
being measured as 12-month ECL. Some qualitative indicators of an increase in 
credit risk, such as delinquency or forbearance, may be indicative of an increased 
risk of default that persists after the indicator itself has ceased to exist. In these 
cases, the group determines a probation period during which the financial asset is 
required to demonstrate good behaviour to provide evidence that its credit risk has 
declined sufficiently. When contractual terms of a financial asset have been 
modified, evidence that the criteria for recognising lifetime ECL are no longer met 
includes a history of up-to-date payment performance against the modified 
contractual terms.  

 
Definition of default (Stage 3): 

 
In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the company uses the following 
indicators:  
 
 Bankruptcies and liquidations: Failure to pay interest/principal on an interest-

bearing bond or loan, miss payment (principle, interest, or both), past the 
grace period. 

 
 Distressed restructuring: difference between the net present values of cash 

flows before and after restructuring arrangements exceeds a certain threshold 
the exposure should be classified as defaulted. 

 
 Government bail-out: For banks and financial institutions. 
 
Incorporation of forward-looking information 
 
The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forward-
looking information. The group has performed historical analysis and identified the 
key economic variables impacting credit risk and expected credit losses for each 
portfolio. 

 
These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD 
vary by financial instrument. Expert judgment has also been applied in this process. 
Forecasts of these economic variables (the “base economic scenario”) are provided 
by the group’s Finance team on an annual basis and provide the best and worst 
estimate view of the economy. 
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

(v) Credit quality analysis (continued) 
 
Incorporation of forward-looking information (continued) 
 
The impact of these economic variables on the PD, EAD and LGD has been 
determined by performing a trend analysis and compared historical information 
with forecast macro-economic data to determine whether the indicator 
describes a positive, negative or stable trend and to understand the impact 
changes in these variables have had historically on default rates and on the 
components of LGD and EAD. 
 
In addition to the base economic scenario, the group considers other possible 
scenarios and scenario weightings. At April 1, 2019, and March 31, 2020, the 
group concluded that three scenarios appropriately captured non-linearities.  
The scenario weightings are determined by a combination of statistical analysis 
and expert credit judgement, taking account of the range of possible outcomes 
each chosen scenario is representative of.  
 
As with any economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence 
are subject to a high degree of inherent uncertainty and therefore the actual 
outcomes may be significantly different to those projected. The group 
considers these forecasts to represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes 
and has analysed the non-linearities and asymmetries within the group’s 
different portfolios to establish that the chosen scenarios are appropriately 
representative of the range of possible scenarios. 
 
Each scenario considers the expected impact of interest rates, unemployment 
rates and gross domestic product (GDP). Appropriate consideration to the 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic was accorded. 
 
Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated within the 
above scenarios, such as the impact of any regulatory, legislative or political 
changes, have also been considered, but are not deemed to have a material 
impact and therefore no adjustment has been made to the ECL for such factors. 
This is reviewed and monitored for appropriateness on a quarterly basis.  

 
Measurement of ECL 

 
Historical recovery rate data was compared to a variety of factors in order to 
determine correlations between these factors and the amount recovered (as 
defined above). These correlations were then used to determine the coefficients 
in a non-linear factor model which is used for projecting recovery rates and 
losses prospectively. The output from this model can be used either on a stand-
alone basis to estimate recovery by specific liability class upon default, or as 
inputs to a more comprehensive portfolio credit risk management system. 
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

(v) Credit quality analysis (continued) 
 
Measurement of ECL (continued) 
 
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default.  In preparing 
the full lifetime ECL calculation, the EAD is calculated at annual intervals 
from the reporting date out to maturity. The reporting date, transaction date and 
transaction price are used to calculate the accounting exposure at default.  If 
not provided, an accounting effective interest rate is calculated using the 
transaction date and price (see section below for more) and is applied to the 
future cash flows of the particular instrument to discount these cash flows.  
This is done on an annual basis from reporting date out until maturity.  
 
Loss allowance 
 

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation - such as how the maturity 
profile of the PDs and how collateral values change etc. - are monitored and 
reviewed on a quarterly basis. 

 
The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing 
balance of the loss allowance by class of financial instrument.   

 

 Long-term loan receivable and resale agreements: 
 

  Group and Company 
   2020  
   Stage 1  
   $’000 
 

Balance at March 31, 2019   647  
Net re-measurement of loss allowance     1,304  

Balance at March 31, 2020   1,951 

 

 Other receivable: 
  Group and Company 

   2020  
   Stage 1  
   $’000 
 

Balance at March 31, 2019       -     
Net re-measurement of loss allowance     2,548  

Balance at March 31, 2020   2,548 
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

(v) Credit quality analysis (continued) 
 
Loss allowance (continued) 
 
 Debt securities at FVOCI: 

  Group and Company 
   2020  
   Stage 1  
   $’000 

 
Balance at March 31, 2019   642    
Net re-measurement of loss allowance   1,245  

Balance at March 31, 2020   1,887  
 

 (b) Liquidity risk: 
 

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due. The group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, 
as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the group’s reputation. 

 
Typically, the group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand and marketable 
securities to meet expected operational expenses, including the servicing of financial 
obligations. This excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot 
reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.  

 
The group’s financial liabilities comprise accounts payable that are repayable within 
one year at the carrying amount reflected on the statement of financial position. 

 
There were no changes to the group’s approach to liquidity risk management during 
the year.  

 
(c) Market risk: 

 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, 
interest rates and equity prices, will affect the group’s and company’s income or the 
value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return on risk. There has been no change to the 
group’s exposure to market risk or the manner in which it measures and manages this 
risk. 
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued): 
 

(i) Foreign currency risk: 
 

Foreign currency risk is that the market value of, or the cash flows from, 
financial instruments will vary because of exchange rate fluctuations.  The 
company is exposed to foreign currency risk due to fluctuations in exchange 
rates on transactions and balances that are denominated in currencies other 
than the Jamaica dollar.  The main currencies giving rise to this risk are the 
United States dollar (US$) and Canadian dollars ($).  The company manages 
this risk by matching foreign currency assets with foreign currency liabilities, 
to the extent practicable, except where it undertakes a gapping strategy in 
pursuit of exchange rate gains. The net foreign currency exposure is kept to 
the targeted levels by buying or selling currencies at spot rates when necessary 
to address imbalances.   
 
The group’s and the company’s exposure to foreign currency risk are 
materially denominated in United States dollars (US$) and are as follows:  
 

   Group and Company 
   2020 2019 
   US$ US$ 
   (’000) (’000) 

 Investments  1,964 2,215 
 Cash and cash equivalents    300  80 
 Securities purchased under resale agreements  2,019  1,463 
 Long term and other receivables     180     215 

 Net foreign currency denominated assets  4,463  3,973 
 

 Sensitivity analysis 

  
 A strengthening/weakening of the Jamaica dollar against the United States 

dollar at March 31, 2020 would have increased/(decreased) equity and profit 
or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is 
performed on the same basis for 2019. 
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued): 
 

(i) Foreign currency risk (continued): 
 

 Sensitivity analysis (continued) 
 

   Group and Company  
  2020  
  Increase   Decrease  
  % Effect on  % Effect on 
 Currency weakening  profit or loss strengthening profit or loss 
 $’000 $’000 

 US$ 6 35,867 2 (11,956) 
  
 

  Group and Company  
  2019  
  Increase   Decrease  
  % Effect on  % Effect on 
 Currency weakening  profit or loss strengthening profit or loss 
 $’000 $’000 

 US$ 4 18,742 2 (  9,934) 
 

 (ii) Interest rate risk: 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. The group 
manages this risk by monitoring interest rates daily. Even though there are no 
formally predetermined gap limits, where possible and to the extent judged 
appropriate, the maturity profile of its financial assets is matched by that of its 
financial liabilities; where gaps are deliberately arranged, management 
expects that its monitoring will, on a timely basis, identify the need to take 
appropriate action to close a gap if it becomes necessary. 

 
Floating rate instruments expose the company to cash flow interest risk, 
whereas fixed interest rate instruments expose the company to fair value 
interest risk. 

 
The company's interest rate risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk 
by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments. The 
policy also requires it to manage the maturities of interest-earning financial 
assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities. The Board sets limits on the 
level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, which is 
monitored by management and the Audit Committee. 
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued): 
 

 (ii) Interest rate risk (continued): 
 

The table below summarises the group's exposure to interest rate risk. Included in 
the tables are the carrying amounts of the group's financial instruments, 
categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing and maturity dates. 

 

   Group  

   2020  
      Non 
  31-90 91-365 366 days Over 5 interest 
  days days to 5 years years bearing Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Assets 
  Cash and cash  
     equivalents        -              -             -             -       110,576 110,576 
 Securities purchased under  
     resale agreements  202,305 66,976       -             -             -       269,281 
  Investments        -              -       138,469       -       140,685 279,154 
  Other receivables        -              -             -             -       24,650 24,650 

 Long-term receivable        -             -         18,658       -             -         18,658 

 Total financial assets  202,305   66,976 157,127       -       275,911 702,319 

 Liabilities 
 Accounts payable        -             -             -             -         55,914   55,914  

 Total financial liabilities         -             -             -             -         55,914   55,914  

 Interest rate sensitivity gap  202,305   66,976 157,127       -       219,997 646,405  

 Cumulative interest 
    sensitivity gap  202,305 269,281 426,408 426,408 646,405       -        
 
   Group  

   2019  
      Non 
  31-90 91-365 366 days Over 5 interest 
  days days to 5 years years bearing Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Assets 
  Cash and cash  
  equivalents        -             -             -            -        90,247 90,247 
 Securities purchased under  
    resale agreements  193,229       -             -            -             -        193,229 
 Investments        -             -       115,616 98,037 77,025 290,678 
 Other receivables        -             -             -            -        23,381 23,381 
 Long-term receivable        -             -         22,452      -             -          22,452 
 Pension receivable        -             -             -         42,091   39,701   81,792 

 Total financial assets  193,229       -       138,068 140,128 230,354 701,779 

 Liabilities 
 Accounts payable        -             -             -            -          39,075   39,075 

 Total financial liabilities         -             -             -            -          39,075   39,075 

 Interest rate sensitivity gap  193,229       -       138,068 140,128 191,279 662,704 

 Cumulative interest 
    sensitivity gap  193,229 193,229 331,297 471,425 662,704       -        
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued): 
 
 (ii) Interest rate risk (continued): 

 
   Company  

   2020  
      Non 
  31-90 91-365 366 days Over 5 interest 
  days days to 5 years years bearing Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
 Assets 

  Cash and cash  
     equivalents        -             -             -             -       104,183 104,183 
 Securities purchased under  
     resale agreements  202,305 66,976       -             -            -        269,281 
  Investments        -             -       138,469       -       140,685 279,154 
  Other receivables        -             -             -             -       37,750 37,750 
  Long-term receivable        -             -         18,658       -             -         18,658 

 Total financial assets  202,305   66,976 157,127       -       282,618 709,026 
 

 Liabilities 
 Accounts payable        -             -             -             -         57,829   57,829 

 Total financial liabilities         -             -             -             -         57,829   57,829 

 Interest rate sensitivity gap  202,305   66,976 157,127       -       224,789 651,197 

 Cumulative interest 
    sensitivity gap  202,305 269,281 427,408 427,408 651,197       -       

 
 
   Company  

   2019  
      Non 
  31-90 91-365 366 days Over 5 interest 
  days days to 5 years years bearing Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
 Assets 

  Cash and cash  
  equivalents  -            -             -            -        86,547 86,547 
 Securities purchased under  
     resale agreements  193,229       -             -            -             -        193,229 
  Investments  -            -       115,616 98,037 77,025 290,678 
  Other receivables  -            -             -            -        37,700 37,700 
  Long-term receivable        -            -         22,452      -             -          22,452 
  Pension receivable        -            -             -         42,091   39,701   81,792 

 Total financial assets  193,229       -       138,068 140,128 240,973 712,398 

 Liabilities 
  Accounts payable        -            -             -            -          57,829   57,829 

 Total financial liabilities         -            -             -            -          57,829   57,829 

 Interest rate sensitivity gap  193,229       -       138,068 140,128 224,789 651,197 

 Cumulative interest 
    sensitivity gap  193,229 193,229 331,297 471,425 651,197       -       
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued): 
 
 (ii) Interest rate risk (continued): 

 
The table below summarises the weighted average interest rate by major 
currencies for interest-bearing financial instruments of the group at the 
reporting date: 

 
     Group and Company 

    2020 2019 
      US$  US$ 
      %  % 
 

Assets 
  Securities purchased under 
     resale agreements    2.57 1.63 
  Investments   7.98 6.56 
  Long-term loan receivable  4.00 4.00 
  Pension receivable          - 17.06 

 
The group minimises interest rate risk by investing mainly in fixed rate 
securities and contracting liabilities at fixed rates, where possible.  There are 
no variable rate instruments. 

 
 Profile 

 
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the group’s interest-bearing 
financial instruments was:  

   Group   Company  
  2020 2019 2020 2019 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  Fixed rate instruments 
  Financial assets 406,130 448,973 406,130 448,973 

 
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 

 
 The group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at 

fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the 
reporting date would not affect profit or loss. 

 
 An increase of 100 or decrease of 100 (2019: An increase of 100 or decrease 

of 100) basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have 
increased/decreased equity by $4,061,000 for the group and company (2019: 
increased/decreased equity by $3,330,000 for the group and company). This 
analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, 
remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2019. 
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued): 
 
 (ii) Interest rate risk (continued): 

 
 Equity price risk 
 
 The Board monitors the mix of debt and equity securities in its investment 

portfolio based on market expectations. This risk is managed by the 
monitoring of the market value of the securities on the Jamaica Stock 
Exchange (JSE) and other foreign stock exchanges and the respective 
companies’ quarterly financial performance. 

 
Sensitivity analysis – equity price risk 

 
 Most of the group’s equity investments are listed on foreign market stock 

exchanges. A 5% or (10%) (2019: 10%) increase or decline in the relevant 
indexes at the reporting date would have increased of $5,379,000 or a 
decrease of $2,689,000 for the group and company (2019: $6,243,000 for the 
group and company). 

 
(d) Fair values: 

 
 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date and is best evidenced by a quoted market price, if one exists. 

 
 The fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted market price at the 

reporting date without any deduction for transaction costs. Where a quoted market 
price is not available, the fair value of the instrument is estimated using pricing 
models or discounted cash flows or a generally accepted alternative method. 

 
FVOCI financial assets include Government of Jamaica instruments, corporate 
bonds, quoted equities and unquoted equities.  

 
The fair values of current financial assets and liabilities are assumed to approximate 
to their carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position due to their 
short-term nature. 
 
The fair value of non-current receivables and liabilities are assumed to approximate 
to their carrying values as no loss on realisation or discount on settlement is 
anticipated. 

 
 Basis for determining fair values 

 
 Quoted equities are valued using the quoted market bid prices listed on the Jamaica 

Stock Exchange and other foreign stock exchanges at the reporting date. 
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Fair values (continued): 
 

 Basis for determining fair values (continued) 
 

 Government of Jamaica securities and the investment notes are valued using a pricing 
input and yields from an acceptable broker yield curve. 

 
The fair value of investments, pension fund receivable, cash and cash equivalents, 
securities purchased under resale agreements, trade and other receivable and trade 
payables are assessed to approximate their carrying values due to their relatively short-
term nature. 

 
No items were reclassified from one level to another. 

 
Accounting classifications and fair values 

 
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and 
financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include 
fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair 
value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

 
  Group and Company  

  2020   
   Carrying amounts   Fair values  
      
  Amortised   
   cost  FVOCI FVTPL Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Financial assets measured  
   at fair value: 
Investments        -       145,577 80,842 226,419 53,793 172,626       -       226,419  
Financial assets measured not 
   at fair value: 
Investments  52,735      -           -      52,735      -      52,735       -       52,735   
Securities purchased under resale  
   agreement  269,281      -           -      269,281      -      270,521       -       270,521  

  322,016      -           -      322,016      -      323,256       -       323,256  
 
 

  Group and Company  
  2019   

   Carrying amounts   Fair values  
      
  Amortised   
   cost  FVOCI FVTPL Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Financial assets measured  
   at fair value: 
Investments        -       239,947 8,543 248,490 62,429 186,061       -       248,490  
Financial assets measured not 
   at fair value: 
Investments  42,188 -      -    42,188 -      42,188       -       42,188  
Securities purchased under resale  
   agreement  193,229      -          -    193,229      -      193,875       -       193,875 

  235,417      -          -    235,417      -      236,063       -       236,063  
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23. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(e) Capital management: 
 
The group’s objective is to maintain a strong capital base so as to safeguard the 
group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide 
returns for stockholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 
 
The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital which the group defines as 
share capital, capital reserves, fair value reserves and retained profits. The group may 
adjust or maintain the capital structure by adjusting the amount of dividends paid to 
stockholders. 
 
There were no changes in the group’s approach to capital management during the 
year. 

 
 
24. Disposal of subsidiaries 
 

During the year, the company petitioned to strike off Selectco Publications Limited from 
the company register.  In the prior year, similar actions were taken for four (4) subsidiaries 
(see note 1). Formal gazetting for all striking off is pending.  
 
The effect of the liquidation is as follows: 

 
   Group  
   2020 2019 

  $’000 $’000 

 
Investments -    1,552 
Deferred tax assets/liability -    614 
Trade receivables 110 6,183 
Other receivables -    8,842 
Taxation recoverable 2,457 7,339 
Cash and cash equivalent 32 -     
Trade payables (   703) (  2,405) 

Net assets liquidated 1,896 22,125 
Currency translation differences realised on liquidation      -    (80,911) 

Loss/(gain) on liquidations and strike-offs of subsidiaries  1,896 (58,786) 
 
 
   Company  
   2020 2019 

  $’000 $’000 

 
Interest in subsidiaries  -     1,413 
Distribution including write off of related party balances 5,604 (45,137) 

Loss/(gain) on liquidations and strike-offs of subsidiaries 5,604 (43,724) 
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25. Related parties  

 

(a) Identity of related parties: 
 

The group has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries, associates and with its 
directors and executive officers in the ordinary course of business. 

 

(b) Transactions with key management personnel: 
 

 In addition to salaries, the group provides non-cash benefits to executive officers.  
 

The key management personnel compensation is as follows: 
 

   Group   Company  
  2020 2019 2020 2019 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Short-term benefits  12,501 16,559 12,501 16,559 
 

(c) The statement of financial position includes balances arising in the ordinary course of 
business, with subsidiaries and associated companies as follows: 

 

      Company  
   2020 2019 
    $’000 $’000 

  Trade and other receivables: 
  Subsidiaries, net of provision      -      4,613 
  Associated companies      -          -     

 Accounts payable: 
  Associated companies    3,570 4,263 
 Other related entities    12,472 2,885 
 
 

26. Operating leases - Lessor 
 

Pursuant to the March 24, 2016, scheme of arrangement between Radio Jamaica Limited 
(collectively “RJR Gleaner”) and 1834 Investments Limited, the building at 7 North Street 
and parking lots at East Street and John’s Lane, being investment properties, were leased to 
RJR Gleaner. 

 

(a) Future minimum lease payments: 
 

  Company  
     $ $ 

 

Less than one year  100,000 100,000 
Between one and five years 500,000 500,000 
More than five years  500,000 600,000 

 
(b) All property rental and maintenance expenses are borne by the lessee.  
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27. Changes in accounting policies 
 

Except for changes below, the group has consistently applied the accounting policies set 
out in note 28 to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements. 

 

The details, nature and effects of the changes are as follows: 
 

IFRS 16 Leases, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2019, eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, which 
distinguishes between on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet operating 
leases. Instead, there is a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to 
current finance lease accounting. Lessees will be required to bring all major leases on-
balance sheet, recognising new assets and liabilities. The on-balance sheet liability will 
attract interest; the total lease expense will be higher in the early years of a lease even if a 
lease has fixed regular cash rentals. Optional lessee exemption will apply to short- term 
leases and for low-value items with value of US$5,000 or less. 

 

Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as the lessor will continue to classify 
leases as finance and operating leases.  
 

 The Group has determined that the application of IFRS 16 as at January 1, 2019 has not 
given rise to any material change in the Group’s assets and liabilities. 

 

 The Group leases out its investment property and has no leases as lessee. The Group is 
therefore not required to make any adjustments on transition to IFRS 16, Leases in 
which it acts as a lessor. 

 
 

28. Significant accounting policies 
 

Except for the changes described in note 27, the group has consistently applied the 
accounting policies as set out below to all periods presented in these financial statements.  

 
(a) Basis of consolidation: 

 

(i) Business combinations: 
 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the 
acquisition date, which is at the date on which control is transferred to the 
group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

 The group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 
 

 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 

 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquired 
entity; plus  

 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-
existing interest in the acquired entity; less 

 the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed.  
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued): 
 

(i) Business combinations (continued): 
 

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 

 
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the 
settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts generally are recognised 
in profit or loss. Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value 
at the acquisition date. 

 
Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity 
securities, that the group incurs in connection with a business combination are 
expensed as incurred. 

 
(ii) Subsidiaries: 

 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group controls an entity 
when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences 
until the date on which control ceases. 

 
These consolidated financial statements comprise the financial results of the 
company and its subsidiaries. The principal operating subsidiaries are listed in 
note 24 and are referred to as “subsidiaries” or “subsidiary”. The company and 
its subsidiaries and its associates (note 7) are collectively referred to as the 
“group”.  

 
(i) Loss of control: 

 
On the loss of control, the group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity 
related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is 
recognised in profit or loss. If the group retains any interest in the former 
subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is 
lost. 
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued): 
 

(ii) Associate: 
 

The group’s interest in equity-accounted investees comprise interest in 
associate. 

 

An associate is an entity in which the group has significant influence, but not 
control, over the financial and operating policies. Significant influence is 
presumed to exist when the group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting 
power of the entity.  

 

Interest in associate is accounted for using the equity method. It is initially 
recognised at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial 
statements include the group’s share of the profit or loss of the associate, until 
the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases.  

 

(iv) Transactions eliminated on consolidation: 
 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses 
arising from intra-group transaction, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising 
from transaction with equity-accounted investee are eliminated against the 
investment to the extent of the group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised 
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent 
that there is no evidence of impairment. 

 

A business combination involving entities or businesses under common control 
is a business combination in which all of the combining entities or businesses 
are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both before and after the 
combination, and that control is not transitory. The group applies book value 
(carry-over basis) accounting for business combinations for entities under 
common control in the consolidated financial statements on the basis that the 
investment has been moved from one part of the group to another.   

 

(b) Property, plant and equipment: 
 

(i) Owned assets: 
 

 Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. 

 

The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct 
labour, plus related borrowing costs and any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use. 

 

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future 
economic benefits embodied with the part will flow to the group  and its costs 
can be measured reliably. The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant 
and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b) Property, plant and equipment (continued): 
 

(ii) Leased assets: 
 

Leases, under the terms of which the group assumes substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Assets acquired 
under finance leasing arrangements are measured at an amount equal to the 
lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments 
at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses.  

 
(iii) Depreciation: 

 
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis at annual 
rates estimated to write down the assets to their residual values over their 
expected useful lives. The depreciation rates are as follows: 

 
Machinery & equipment - 10%, 12½%, 20% and 25% 
Computer equipment - 25% 

 
The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reassessed at each reporting date. 

 
(c) Financial instruments: 

 
(a) Financial instruments – Classification, recognition, derecognition and 

measurement 
 

 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one 
entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.  In these 
financial statements: 

 Financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, securities purchased 
under resale agreements, investments and other receivables. 

 Financial liabilities comprise accounts payable. 
 

Financial instruments are classified, recognised and measured in accordance 
with the substance of the terms of the contracts as set out herein. 

 
(i) Recognition and initial measurement   

 
The group recognises a financial instrument when it becomes a party to the 
contractual terms of the instrument. The group initially recognises other 
receivables on the date when they are originated. All other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date.  
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Financial instruments: 
 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement (continued)  
 

At initial recognition, the group measures a financial asset or financial liability 
at its fair value, plus or minus; the case of a financial asset or financial liability 
not at fair value through profit or loss transaction costs that are incremental and 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial 
liability, such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and 
financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in 
profit or loss.  
 
Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance (ECL) is 
recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost and investments in 
debt instruments measured at FVOCI, which results in an accounting loss being 
recognised in profit or loss when an asset is newly originated. 

 
When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an 
identical asset or liability (i.e. a level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique 
that uses only data from observable markets, the difference is recognised as a 
gain or loss. 
 
In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of recognition of 
deferred day one profit or loss is determined individually. It is either amortised 
over the life of the instrument, deferred until the instrument’s fair value can be 
determined using market observable inputs, or realised through settlement 

 
(ii) Classification and subsequent remeasurement  
 

The group has applied IFRS 9 and classified its financial assets in the following 
measurement categories: 

• Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); 
• Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or 
• Amortised cost. 

 
Financial assets 
 
The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described 
below: 

 
(a) Debt instruments 
 

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a 
financial liability from the issuer’s perspective, such as loans, 
government and corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from 
clients in factoring arrangements without recourse. 
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Financial instruments (continued): 
 

(ii) Classification and subsequent remeasurement (continued)  
 

Financial assets (continued) 
 
The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described 
below (continued): 

 
(a) Debt instruments (continued) 

 
Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend 
on: 

 
 the group’s business model for managing the asset; and 

 the cash flow characteristics of the asset. 
 

Based on these factors, the group classifies its debt instruments into one 
of the following three measurement categories: 

 
 Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash 

flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal 
and interest (‘SPPI’), and that are not designated at FVTPL, are 
measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is 
adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and 
measured as described at (vi). Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in ‘Interest and similar income’ using the effective 
interest method. 

 
 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial 

assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for 
selling the assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at 
FVTPL are measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI).  

 
 Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria 

for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is 
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not 
part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and 
presented in the profit or loss statement within operating income’ in 
the period in which it arises. Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in ‘operating income’ using the effective interest 
method. 
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Financial instruments (continued): 
 

(ii) Classification and subsequent remeasurement (continued) 
 

Financial assets (continued) 
 

(a) Debt instruments (continued) 
 

Business model: the business model reflects how the group manages the 
assets in order to generate cash flows. That is, whether the group’s 
objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or 
is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from 
the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are 
held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part 
of ‘other’ business model and measured at FVTPL.  

 

Factors considered by the group in determining the business model for a 
group of assets include: 

1. Past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were 
collected;  

2. How the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to key 
management personnel; 

3. How risks are assessed and managed; and  
4. How managers are compensated.  

 

For example, securities held for trading are held principally for the 
purpose of selling in the near term or are part of a portfolio of financial 
instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of 
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. These securities are 
classified in the ‘other’ business model and measured at FVTPL.  

 

Solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI): Where the business 
model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect 
contractual cash flows and sell, the company assesses whether the 
financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal 
and interest (the ‘SPPI test’). In making this assessment, the group 
considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic 
lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time 
value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin 
that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the 
contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are 
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset 
is classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss. Financial 
assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when 
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and 
interest. 
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Financial instruments (continued): 
 

(ii) Classification and subsequent remeasurement (continued) 
 

Financial assets (continued) 
 

(a) Debt instruments (continued) 
 

The group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business 
model for managing those assets changes. The reclassification takes 
place from the start of the first reporting period following the change. 
Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and none occurred 
during the period. 

 
(b) Equity instruments 

 
Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity 
from the issuer’s perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a 
contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the 
issuer’s net assets.  
 
The group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value 
through profit or loss, except where the group’s management has elected, 
at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair 
value through other comprehensive income.  
 

(iii) Derecognition 
 

The group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the financial asset expire or it transfers the rights to receive the 
contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the 
group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.  

 
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying 
amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset 
derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new 
asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or 
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) is 
recognised in profit or loss.  
 
Any cumulative gains or losses recognised in OCI in respect of equity 
investment securities designated as at FVOCI is not recognised in profit or loss 
on derecognition of such securities. Any interest in transferred financial assets 
that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the group is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability.  

 
The group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or expired. 
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Financial instruments (continued): 
 

(iv) Financial instruments - other 
 

(1) Cash and cash equivalents: 
 

Cash and cash equivalents, which comprise cash and bank balances and 
include short-term deposits, with maturities ranging between one and 
three months of acquisition date, are measured at amortised cost.  For the 
purpose of the statement of cash flows, bank overdraft is included as a 
component of cash and cash equivalents. 

 
(2) Securities purchased under resale agreements: 

 
Securities purchased under resale agreements (“reverse repurchase or 
resale agreements”) are accounted for as short-term collateralised lending 
and are classified as amortised cost.   

 
On initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost.  The 
difference between the purchase cost and the resale consideration is 
recognised in profit or loss as interest income over the life of the contract 
using the effective interest method. 

 
(3) Other receivables:  

 
These are measured at amortised cost, less impairment losses. 

 
(4) Accounts payable and provisions: 

 
Accounts payable, including provisions, are measured at amortised cost. 
A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the 
company has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. If 
the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability. 

 
(v) Impairment: 

 
The group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the 
following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:  

- financial assets that are debt instruments; and 

- lease receivables.  
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Financial instruments (continued): 
 

(v) Impairment (continued): 
 
The group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, 
except for the following, for which they are measured as 12-month ECL:  

- debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at 
the reporting date; and  

- other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit 
risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition.  
 

Loss allowances for lease receivables are always measured at an amount equal 
to lifetime ECL.  
 
The group considers a debt investment to have low credit risk when its credit 
risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment 
grade’. The group does not apply the low credit risk exemption to any other 
financial instruments.  
 
12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a 
financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting 
date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month ECL is recognised are 
referred to as ‘Stage 1 financial instruments’.  
 
Lifetime ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of the financial instrument. Financial instruments for which a 
lifetime ECL is recognised but which are not credit-impaired are referred to as 
‘Stage 2 financial instruments’.  
 
Measurement of ECL  

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as 
follows:  

- financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the 
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash 
flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows 
that the group expects to receive); and 

- financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the 
difference between the gross carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows.  
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Financial instruments (continued): 
 

(v) Impairment (continued): 
 
Restructured financial assets  
 
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing 
financial asset is replaced with a new one due to financial difficulties of the 
borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be 
derecognised and ECL are measured as follows:  

- If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing 
asset, then the expected cash flows arising from the modified financial 
asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset.  
 

- If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing 
asset, then the expected fair value of the new asset is treated as the final 
cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition. 
This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing 
financial asset that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition 
to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the 
existing financial asset.  

 
Credit-impaired financial assets  
 
At each reporting date, the group assesses whether financial assets carried at 
amortised costs are credit-impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). A 
financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset 
have occurred.  
 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following 
observable data:  

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;  

- a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;  

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the group on terms that the 
company would not consider otherwise;  

- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other 
financial reorganisation; or  

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial 
difficulties.  

 
A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s 
condition is usually considered to be credit-impaired unless there is evidence 
that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced significantly 
and there are no other indicators of impairment. In addition, a loan that is 
overdue for 90 days or more is considered credit-impaired.  
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Financial instruments (continued): 
 

(v) Impairment (continued): 
 

In making an assessment of whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-
impaired, the group considers the following factors.  
 

- The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond 
yields.  

- The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness.  

- The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance.  

- The probability of the debt being restructured, resulting in holders 
suffering losses through voluntary or mandatory debt forgiveness.  

- The international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary 
support as ‘lender of last resort’ to that country, as well as the intention, 
reflected in public statements, of governments and agencies to use those 
mechanisms. This includes an assessment of the depth of those 
mechanisms and, irrespective of the political intent, whether there is the 
capacity to fulfil the required criteria. 

 

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position  
 

Allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as 
follows:  
 

- financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets.  

- debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in 
the statement of financial position because the carrying amount of these 

assets is their fair value. However, the loss is recognised in profit or loss 
as a reclassification from OCI. 

 

Write-off  
 

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there 
is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a 
portion thereof. This is generally the case when the group determines that the 
borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate 
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This 
assessment is carried out at the individual asset level.  
 

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘impairment 
losses on financial instruments’ in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.  
 

Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement 
activities in order to comply with the group’s procedures for recovery of 
amounts due. 

 

An impairment loss is reversed, if the reversal can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets 
measured at amortised cost and available-for-sale financial assets that are debt 
securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.  
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(d) Taxation: 
 

(i) Income tax: 
 

 Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. 
Income tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which case, it is 
recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 

 Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, 
using tax rates enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous years. 

 

(ii) Deferred tax: 
 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the 
following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, 
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, to the extent that it is 
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future and investment 
property held inside a realisation-from-sale business model.  

 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and 
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax 
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the 
temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been 
enacted as at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 
where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities against 
current tax assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different taxable entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets 
and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 
 

A specific measurement requirement applies to a deferred tax asset or liability 
that arises from investment property measured at fair value. This requirement 
establishes a rebuttable presumption that the carrying amount of investment 
property measured at fair value will be recovered through sale. Therefore, 
unless the presumption is rebutted, the measurement of a deferred tax asset or 
liability pertaining to the investment property reflects the tax consequences of 
recovering the carrying amount of the investment property entirely through 
sale.  
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(d) Taxation: 

 
(ii) Deferred tax (continued): 
 

The presumption is rebutted if the investment property is depreciable and is 
held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all 
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather 
than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, then the normal requirements 
of measuring deferred tax assets or liabilities are applicable. 

 
(e) Revenue recognition: 

 
 Revenue is income that arises in the course of the ordinary activities of the group.  

Accordingly, revenue comprises interest income, rental income, dividend income and 
other investment returns. 

 
(i) Interest income  Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest 

rate to the gross carrying amount of financial assets, except for: 
 

(a) Purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets, for 
which the original credit-adjusted effective interest rate is applied to the 
amortised cost of the financial asset. 

(b) Financial assets that are not ‘POCI’ but have subsequently become 
credit-impaired (or ‘stage 3’), for which interest revenue is calculated by 
applying the effective interest rate to their amortised cost (i.e., net of the 
expected credit loss provision). 

 
(ii) Rental income is recognised as the related services are consumed. 

 
(iii) Dividend income is recognised on the date the group’s right to receive payment 

is established. 
 
(f) Foreign currencies: 

 
Foreign currency balances outstanding at the reporting date are translated at the rates 
of exchange ruling on that date [US$1 = J$133.96 (2019: J$125.02)]. Transactions in 
foreign currencies are converted at the rates of exchange ruling at the dates of those 
transactions.   

 
Gains and losses arising from fluctuations in exchange rates are included in profit or 
loss. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, all foreign currency gains and 
losses recognised in profit or loss are treated as cash items and included in cash flows 
from operating or financing activities along with movements in the principal 
balances. 
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(g) Impairment of non-financial assets: 
 

The carrying amounts of the group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
 

An impairment loss is recognised, if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest 
identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independent from 
other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce 
the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value 
in use and its fair value, less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. 
 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, 
impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for 
any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is 
reversed, if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss has been 
recognised.  

 

(h) Investment properties: 
 

Investment properties, comprising principally land and buildings, are held for long-
term rental yields and capital appreciation and are treated as long-term investments. 
They are measured initially at cost, including related transaction costs and are 
subsequently measured at fair value.  Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair 
value is recognised in profit or loss. 
 

Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference 
in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. The fair value of investment 
property reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and 
assumptions about rental income from future leases in light of current market 
conditions. The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows that 
could be expected in respect of the property. Fair value is determined annually by an 
independent registered valuer. Fair value is based on current prices in an active 
market for similar properties in the same location and condition.  

 

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset's carrying amount only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance costs are charged to income during the financial period in which they 
are incurred. 
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(i) Assets held for sale: 
 

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if it is highly probable they will be 
recovered primarily through sale, rather than continuing use. Such assets are 
generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair values less cost to 
sell.  Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains 
and losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

(j) New and amended standards and interpretations not yet effective: 
 

(i) Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards is 
effective retrospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2020. The revised framework covers all aspects of standard setting 
including the objective of financial reporting. 

 

The main change relates to how and when assets and liabilities are recognised 
and de-recognised in the financial statements. 

 

- New ‘bundle of rights’ approach to assets will mean that an entity may 
recognise a right to use an asset rather than the asset itself; 

- A liability will be recognised if a company has no practical ability to avoid 
it. This may bring liabilities on balance sheet earlier than at present. 

- A new control-based approach to de-recognition will allow an entity to 
derecognise an asset when it loses control over all or part of it; the focus will 
no longer be on the transfer of risks and rewards. 

 

(ii) Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations, applicable to businesses 
acquired in annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020, 
provides more guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments 
include: 

 

(a) An election to use a concentration test by way of an assessment that results 
in an asset acquisition, if substantially all of the fair value of the gross 
asset is concentrated in single identifiable asset or a group of similar 
identifiable assets. 

 

(b) Otherwise, the assessment focuses on the existence of a substantive 
process. A business consists of inputs and processes applied to those inputs 
to create outputs. 

 

(iii) Amendment  to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020, and provides the 
following definition of ‘material’ to guide preparers of financial statements in 
making judgements about information to be included in financial statements: 

 

“Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably 
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which 
provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.” 
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28. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(j) New and amended standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued): 
 

(iv) Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, 
effective for annual accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020, 
address issues affecting financial reporting in the period leading up to interbank 
offered rates (IBOR) reform. The amendments apply to all hedging relationships 
directly affected by uncertainties related to IBOR reform. The entity is required 
to:  

- Assume that the interest rate benchmark on which hedged cash flows are 
based is not altered as a result of IBOR reform when assessing whether the 
future cash flows are highly probable. 

- Assess whether the economic relationship between the hedged item and the 
hedging instrument exists based on the assumptions that the interest rate 
benchmark is not altered as a result of IBOR reform. 

- Not discontinue a hedging relationship during the period of uncertainty 
arising from IBOR reform solely because the actual results of the hedge are 
outside the range of 80-125 per cent. 

- Apply the separately identifiable requirement only at the inception of the 
hedging relationship. 

- Prospectively cease applying the exceptions at the earlier of: 

(a) when the uncertainty regarding the timing and the amount of interest 
rate benchmark based cash flows is no longer present; and 

(b) the discontinuation of the hedging relationship (or reclassification of 
all amounts from the cash flow hedge reserve). 

 
Additional disclosures will be required for hedging relationships directly 
affected by IBOR reform. 

 
The Group does not expect the amendments to have a significant impact on its 
2021 financial statements. 

 
 
 




